UNIVERSITY OF RWANDA College of Business and Economics MBA Finance

THE IMPACT OF CREDIT AND OPERATIONAL RISKS ON FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF COMMERCIAL BANKS IN RWANDA: A PARTIAL LEAST SQUARE STRUCTURAL EQUATION MODEL APPROACH

EVIDENCE FROM FIVE SELECTED COMMERCIAL BANKS IN RWANDA

Miss. Danielle NDASHIMIYE

Reg No: 219016156

Supervisor: Dr. Samuel MUTARINDWA

A Research Project submitted to the school of business and Economics, MBA Finance, in Partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MBA in Finance of University of Rwanda

August 2021

DECLARATION

I' Danielle Ndashimiye, hereby declare that document presented, this dissertation entitled: "An Analysis of Credit and Operational risks on Financial Performance of Commercial Banks in Rwanda: A Partial Least Square Structural Equation Model Approach", is entirely my own work and has not been submitted in whole or in part to any other high learning or academic institution for any degree or examination in any indicated and acknowledged by complete references.

Danielle Ndashimiye

Signature:

Date:/08/2021

CERTIFICATION

This is to certify that this work entitled "An Analysis of Credit and Operational risks on Financial Performance of Commercial Banks in Rwanda: A Partial Least Square Structural Equation Model Approach" was done by Danielle Ndashimiye with Reg n° 219016156 a student in the Finance, MBA, Batch 11, University of Rwanda/ College of Business and Economics (UR-CBE) in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the masters' degree in business under my guidance and supervision.

Supervisor: Dr. Samuel Mutarindwa.

Signature:

Date:/08/2021

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to: My son and daughter; My parents; My siblings.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am humbled and very thankful to the Almighty God for protecting and guiding me, to have been my guider and my helper, grating the gift of life and courage throughout my work.

I am extending my deep gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Samuel Mutarindwa for his priceless comments, encouragements and guidance at various level of the study and his fundamental professional guidance, patience and careful supervision, which have made this work genuine.

Many people contributed to the completion of this work, I would like to express my sincere thanks to everyone who assisted me and supported me to reach the completion of this work. I would like to recognize all staff of UR/ CBE, especially my Rector, lecturers for their generous and brilliant encouragement given to me to overcome some huddles during my studies, Dear all, I appreciate and recognize your kind support for my work. God bless you.

I express my deepest thanks and gratitude to my father François Rwambonera, my mother Edith Nyirabarera and my son Ikuzwe Noé Altesse and my daughter Shannon B. Batya, my sisters NIKUZE Nadine Lela and NIZAYO Christel for taking part in useful decision & giving necessary advices, guidance, encouragement and arranged all facilities to make life easier and for their contribution during my academic studies from nursery to university I choose this moment to acknowledge their contribution gratefully.

I wish to express my indebted gratitude and special thanks to Dr. Clement B. Basuayi and Mr. and Mrs Nsoneye Jacque and Josiane who in spite of being extraordinarily busy with their duties, took time out to hear, guide and keep me on the correct path and helped me throughout my research by guiding me and encouraging me.

I further thank the management of the Banks selected and used in my research, that granted me permission to carry out my research study from their organizations. May the Almighty God bless you abundantly.

Danielle Ndashimiye

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was to assess the effect of credit risk and operational risk on financial performance of selected Rwandan commercial banks that are registered at Rwanda Stock Exchange. The specific objectives were to assess the levels of credit risk, operational risks, and bank's financial performance, and to examine the effects of both credit and operational risks on the financial performance of commercial banks operating in Rwanda. To achieve these objectives, this study used a partial least squares structural equation model (PLE-SEM) estimation technique with data sourced from banks' financial statements and annual reports for the period of 2013 to 2018.

Results in this study show that higher credit risks as proxied by non-performing loans (NPL) ratio significantly reduces banks' return on assets (ROA) and moderately increases banks return on equity (ROE). In addition, higher operational risks significantly reduce banks' return on assets but increases banks' return on equity. In other findings, banks' age significantly increases banks' financial performance (both ROA & ROE).

This study provides both academic and policy implications. It adds to the rare literature on the measures of credit and operational risks as required by Basel II & III financial requirements on Pillar II (Capital requirements). In addition, it uses a novel and rarely used estimation technique in measuring banks' financial performance (PLE-SEM). This study also contributes to policy by recommending central bank to implement proficient credit risk and operational risk management measures in place to protect the financial performance of the commercial banks. This will not only protect the assets of the banks and safeguard investors' interests but also harden to the business entities, individuals' benefit and the entire economy at large. Regulators should also set policies that will reinforce the banking industry mainly policies that bothers around risk management.

Keywords: Operational risk; Credit risk; PLS SEM; Financial Performance; Commercial Banks

Contents

DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF ABREVIATIONS, SYMBOLS, ACRONYMS AND SIGNS	xi
Chapter 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the study	1
1.2 Problem statement	4
1.3. Aims and objectives	7
1.4 Hypotheses testing	7
1.5 Significance of the study	
1.6 Scope of the study	
1.7 Organization of the study	9
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Definitions of key terms and concepts	
2.1.1. Credit risk	
2.1.2. Operational risk	
2.1.3. Financial performance	
2.1.4. NPL ratio	11
2.1.5 Return on Asset (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE)	11
2.2. Theoretical framework	
2.2.1 Introduction	
2.2.2. Credit Risk Theory	
2.2.3. Operational risk theory	13
2.3. Some background on Basel 1, 2, 3	14
2.4 Empirical review	16
2.5 Literature gap	
CHAPTER III: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	
3.1. Research design	
3.2. Population and Sampling	

3.3. Data collection	24
3.4. Measurement of variables	26
Table 3.1: Formula	26
3.6. Data analysis	26
Table 3.2: Interpretation of Correlation	27
CHAPTER 4: ANALYSIS OF RESULTS	28
4.1 Introduction	28
4.2 Summary description of the banks used in the sample	28
Table 4.1 Overview of the selected banks	29
4.3 Descriptive statistics	31
Table 4. 2: Summary statistics	31
Table 4. 3. Summary statistics of variables by bank name	31
4.2 Bivariate Analysis	33
Table 4. 3: Correlation Matrix	33
4.4 Multivariate Analysis	34
4.4.1 Model description	34
4.4.2 Model description	34
4.4.3 Estimation results.	35
Table 4.5. reports regression results from the PLE-SEM estimations as follows:	36
4.4.4 Effect of credit and operational risks on ROE	36
CHAPTER FIVE: MAJOR FINDINGS, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	40
5.1 introduction	40
5.2 Discussion of findings	40
5.2.1 To assess the levels of operational risks in commercial banks:	40
5.2.2 To assess the levels of credit risks in commercial banks:	41
5.2.3. To assess the levels of bank performance in commercial banks	41
5.2.4 To establish the relationship between operational, credit risks and financial perform	nance.
	41
5.3 Conclusion	42
5.4 Recommendations	43
5.5 Future Studies	44
REFERENCES	45

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1:Emprical Studies	. Error! Bookmark not defined.
Table 3.1:Formula	
Table 3.2: Interpretation of Correlation	
Table 4.1 Overview of the selected banks	
Table 4. 2: Summary statistics	
Table 4. 3. Summary statistics of variables by bank name	
Table 4. 4: Correlation Matrix	
Table 4.5. Reports regression results from the PLE-SEM estimations	

LIST OF FIGURES

2.6 FIGURE OF CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	23
4.5 FIGURE 4.1: THE COEFFICIENTS PATH	35

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS, SYMBOLS, ACRONYMS AND SIGNS

MINECOFIN : Ministry of Economy, Commerce and Finance COGEBANQUE : Compagnie Générale de Banque BPR : Banque Populaire du Rwanda RSE: Rwanda Stock exchange BK: Bank of Kigali UR/ CBE: University of Rwanda/ College of Business and Economics PLS: : Partial Least Square **SEM** :Structural Equation Modeling RCM: Rwanda Capital Market OTC: Over The Counter DR: Doctor ROA: Return On Asset **ROE:** Return On Equity NIM: Net Interest Margin MINICOM : Ministry of Commerce **US: United States** CD: Certificate of Deposit FDH: Free disposal Hull SFA: Stochastic Frontier Approach MP: Market Power BNR: Banque Nationale du Rwanda NPL: Non-Performing Loans ES: Efficiency Structure CAR : LTD •

CAMEL: Capital Adequacy, Assets quality, Management efficiency, Earnings ability and Liquidity

GDP: Gross Domestic Product

%: Percentage

SD: standard Deviation

Chapter 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the study

Risks are inherent for any institution in the world but, the financial institutions are likely to be exposed given their nature of activities (Dionne, 2013). (Bessis, 2002) Considered as a model and process that allows the implementation of banks' risk- based policies and practices the main risk management depict financial institution include market risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk, and operation risk. Balthazar (2006) stated that banks have economic vital function which give them access to funds through collective savers money, issuing debt securities or borrowing on the inter- bank markets. Those funds collected are invested in short-term and long-term risk assets and consist mainly of credits to other various economic actors. However, risk management are based on policies and practices that have a common goal: enhancing the risk return profile of the bank portfolio (Bessis, 2002).

To enhance the productivity and growth of banks, the financial intermediaries are the main source of funding if they are efficiently mobilized with allocated funds (Mona, 2017). Therefore, given the importance of banks, it is important to maintain a strong capital base which serves as a cushion against diverse risks that occur within banks and absorb losses. Effective bank regulations and powerful supervision are able to create better and profitable banking sector in order to withstand negative shocks and maintain financial system stability (Mona, 2017).

In addition, risk management study started with the Basel I after the Second World War around 1950. At this stage, it was mainly related to market risk (Dionne, 2013). In 1950, market risk was perceived as a very costly and incomplete for protection against pure risk. However, in the 1970's the market risk arose the use of derivatives as risk management instruments, which expanded rapidly in the 1980's, when the intensified their financial risk management, in the 1990's began international risk regulation, when the internal risk management and capital calculation formulation were developed by financial institutions to hedge against unanticipated risks and reduce regulatory capital. (Dionne, 2013). Morton and Mun (2008) stated that in 2003 Basel II rise and went beyond Basel I minimum capital requirements, allowing lenders to use the internal models to ascertain regulatory capital while seeking to ensure that banks amend and improve risk management culture from the bottom up. In the 2009's arose the Basel III which

aimed to strengthen the global bank capital, enhance liquidity position and develop a strong framework for resilient banking systems which aimed to strengthen banking capital, liquidity and risk assessment by developing two liquidity ratios and one leverage ratio (Mona, 2017). Bank for International Settlements (2014) stated that the Basel III illustrated for banks to build up excessive leverage while apparently maintaining strong risk-based capital ratios.

In Rwanda, the Rwanda financial sector was created through the National Bank of Rwanda in April 1964. Till the 1994's Rwandan financial sector' development was seen to be weak as for only there were three operating commercial banks and two specialized banks with a total of less than twenty branches in the country and one microfinance (UBPR) with around one hundred and forty-six branches. But the genocide negatively affected the development of the banking sector and almost both physical and human capital of all banks was destroyed during the genocide, the post genocide period, the number of banks has increased, where in 2002 there were six commercial banks with twenty-eight branches, two specialized banks and one union of financial institutions (UBPR) with one hundred forty-eight branches (NBR, 2004). In 2007, commercial banks operated 38 branches, making only 7 % of all branches of financial institutions. By the end of 2008, 8 commercial banks, 2 specialized banks and 1 Microfinance bank were operating. At the end of 2012, the Rwanda's banking sector was composed of nine commercial licensed banks, three micro-finance banks, one development bank, and one cooperative bank (Ecobank, 2013).

During this time, the Rwandan financial services industry experienced important development, as economic strength and growth increased employment rates and the purchasing power of the Rwandan population, and this led to more penetration of financial products and services. Although the number of adults benefiting from banking services was still relatively low (58%) in 2008, this figure rose up to 72% four years later (Ecobank report, 2013). According to BNR (2010), it is expected that banking penetration will continue to increase as a result of a relatively stable macroeconomic environment and continued economic growth.

In the past, different researches have been made using other models to analyze the bank's profit through the contribution of credit risk and operational risk. But most of those studies did not combine operational risk and credit risk together.

Girling (2013) point out that many banks are still under pressure with the practical accomplishment of operational risk frameworks, to senior management and to board members

that operational risks are being effectively managed and mitigated by chief officers where they are finding themselves facing the daunting task of providing assurances. For the operational risk field traditional market and credit risk approaches offer only partial effectiveness. Ekinci et al., (2019) posited in their study using the panel data 26 commercial banks in Turkey for the period of 2005 to 2017 and panel regression model for analysis, that there was relationship between credit risk management (with non- performing loan) and profitability (with ROA and ROE) of Turkish deposit banks. Kerongo et al., (2016) assessed on 34 banks using regression analysis, the findings showed that the three independent variables which were: operational efficiency, credit risk, and insolvency risk influenced the financial performance. Togtokh (2012), argues in his study on credit risk measurement :case study of Mongolian small and medium sized firms, with 42 firm's financial statements that included bankrupted and non-bankrupted firms for the period of 2007-2008 using financial ratios which were analyzed through Altman's Z -score model, found that 71 percent on prediction accuracy of Altman Z-score to be significantly high while with the logistic regression method, two ratios from an estimated total of 15 ratios which are : retained earnings to total ratio and cash to total asset ratio were significant predictor for a firm's bankruptcy in Mongolian SMEs. Alalade et al., (2014) examined credit risk management and financial performance of selected commercial banks in Nigeria. They analyzed the antecedents as loan and advance loss provision, non-performing loan, total loan and advances, and total asset on accounting ROE and ROA. From the listed 10 selected commercial banks on Nigeria Stock Exchange (NSE) between 2006 and 2010, they found that an important effect on financial performance of commercial banks from the credit risk management and therefore propose that maintaining minimum level of non- performing loans regarding with the stipulation for loans and advances which will improve financial performance during its positive effect on return equity.

Gadzo *et al.*, (2019) assessed the role of credit risk and operational risk on financial performance of universal banks in Ghana using a partial least squared structural equation model (PLS SEM) approach, where they selected 24 universal banks in Ghana. Their findings revealed that the credit risk influenced negatively the financial performance while similarly a negative influence of operational risk influenced the financial performance of the universal banks in Ghana. It was also found that bank specific variables which were measured by: bank leverage, cost to income ratio, asset quality, and liquidity; has considerably influenced both risks as well as the financial performance of the universal banks positively. Nguli (2016) studied the effect of credit risk on financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya, with 40 banks from 2011 to 2015, using the regression model and descriptive statistics, it was found that CAR had a positive relationship with ROE, liquidity measured by LTD has a negative relationship with R non-performing loans had a negative relationship with ROE as indicated by the co-efficient while size as measured by natural logarithm of total assets has a positive relationship with ROE. Min *et al.*, (2002) applied the SEM to examine the link between financial management, capital management and risk management, by using as a research sample property/liability insurance, the results indicated that net effects of risk management decisions on allocation in bond and investment and the adoption of debt and equity and the implementation of derivatives in managing risks.

So far many researches that mentioned above have been made to analyze the financial performance used various models, however, none of these studies used latent variables to represent credit and operational risk in a structural equation model (SEM) nor joint both credit and operation risk to access the degree of their effect on the financial performance of financial institutions. This study will hence seek to discover the effect of both operational risk and credit risk on bank's performance using the Partial Least Squared Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) that involves path analysis statistical techniques. SEM, for is a better functionality compared to other multivariate techniques including multiple regression, path analysis and factor analysis. (Saghaei *et al.*, 2009), SEM permits complicated variable relationships to be expressed through hierarchical and non-hierarchical, and recursive or non-recursive structural equations to present a more complete picture of the entire model. This makes it one the powerful methods of multivariate data analysis which test the relationships proposed in parsimonious model which has been proved that SEM functionality is better than other multivariate techniques.

1.2 Problem statement

It should be noted that from Basel I and Basel II different models have been created to measure the bank profitability using regression model and structural equation model (SME) among others (Gemar *et al.*, 2019). However, credit risk and operational risk were scarcely used together in the same model for the non-largest commercial banks. In Gemar *et al.*, (2019) study, it has been used only the largest commercial banks in the world excluding African banks, with the variables that were originated from Risk management and financial management that included: capital adequacy, operations, asset quality, size, profitability, and country profile for the period of 2011 to 2015.

Despite that Gadzo *et al.*, (2019) assessed the role of credit risk and operational risk on financial performance of 24 universal banks in Ghana using a partial least squared structural equation model (PLS SEM) approach, and find that credit risk and operational risk influenced financial performance negatively. However, after added to the model the variables like asset quality, bank leverage, cost to income ratio and liquidity; the model showed that credit risk and operational risk influenced positively financial performance.

In spite of that in Rwanda, BNR (2019) report has indicated that the bank financial performance, continued to increase from Frw 4.6 billion in FY 2017-2018 to Frw 13.6 billion in FY 2018-2019 and this high performance was principally endorsed to good performance from investment portfolio, and cost control measures implemented by the bank, yet, few remain unknown on the effect of credit and operational risks on financial performance.

Furthermore, in Rwanda, BNR (2019) has reported that financial performance is healthy even though the credit risk for staff was likely to be in stage 3 that is 90 days and more outstanding and the NPLs as percentage total loans increased in trade and mining. The NPLs dropped from 6.9% in June 2018 to 5.6% in June 2019 and they are no substantial studies that have addressed the effect of credit and operational risks on financial profitability within commercial banks like Bank of Kigali and I&M Bank. which are using structural equation model (SEM). In fact, this study intent to fill the gap.

Given that there are not only few researches that they have been made in Rwanda on credit and operational risks on financial profitability, but there is lack of studies that are using structural equation model that predict the profitability of non-largest commercial banks. Furthermore, in Gemar *et al.*, (2019) study it was not predicted the profitability for commercial banks for low income countries. Lack of written in the review of literature on the direct and indirect effects of credit risk and operational on bank's financial performance using the SEM like approach in Rwanda request a research to fill the gap. In this view this study intends to fill the gap by assessing the relationship between credit risk and operational risk and financial performance of the selected commercial banks in Rwanda using SEM. The choice of SEM is dictated to test the

direct and indirect effects of credit and operational risks on their pre-assumed causal relationship on the financial performance.

. 1.3. Aims and objectives

The proposed research project aim will be to assess how the credit risk and operational risk drive the financial performance of the non-largest commercial banks:

The specific objectives are:

- 1. To assess the levels of operational risks in commercial banks in Rwanda.
- 2. To assess the levels of credit risks in commercial banks in Rwanda.
- 3. To analysis the levels of bank performance
- 4. To examine the effect of operational and credit risks on the financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda using the PSL-SEM

1.4 Hypotheses testing

The null hypotheses that will be tested are:

 H_{01} There is no relationship between credit risk and the financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda.

Ha₁: There is relationship between credit risk and the financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda.

 H_{02} : There is no relationship between operation risk and the financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda.

H₀₃: Credit risk and operation risk do not drive the financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda.

 H_{a3} : Credit risk and operation risk drive the financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda.

1.5 Significance of the study

To researcher

This study will academically help the researcher to have Master's degree in Finance option at University of Rwanda as well as to contribute in Rwandan education; this study will also help the researcher to fill the gap in credit and operational risks and financial performance in commercial banks, it will also help the researcher to acquire more knowledge and skills in credit and operational risks as well as their impact on financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda.

This research will help the researcher to gain more knowledge of how to conduct the scientific research and take managerial decision based on the accurate collected data information.

To commercial banks in Rwanda

The findings of this study will help commercial banks in Rwanda to enhance the vigilance on credit risk and enhance the monitoring on the operational risk management; to maintain the stability of financial performance as well as to improve where there is weakness in credit and operational risks and financial performance.

To University of Rwanda

The findings of this study will help the University of Rwanda to improve the studies on credit and operational risks on commercial banks, it will help the academic researchers to reference the findings as literature review and empirical in researches as well as to find a gap to fill with credit and operational risks and financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda.

1.6 Scope of the study Geographical scope

This study is done on five commercial banks registered on the Rwandan stock exchange located in Kigali.

Time scope

This study will take into consideration the time of 5 years from 2013 to 2018, the researcher will make any analysis of the selected commercial banks' financial reports in those 5 years, this time

is significant because it will help to analyze the current credit and operational risks status of all selected commercial banks in past five years in order to investigate the effect of those two risks on financial performance of the selected commercial banks in that time.

Content scope

This study will focus on the analysis on credit risk and operational on financial performance the selected commercial banks; it will analyze the credit and operational as independent variable while financial performance will be analyzed as dependent variable in this study.

1.7 Organization of the study

This study is organized in five Chapters. Chapter one is an introduction and comprises the background of the study, statement of the problem, objectives of the study, research questions, significance of the study, limitation of the study and scope of the study. Chapter two will be reviewed of related literature and consists of theoretical literature, empirical literature review, critical literature and research gap identification, theoretical framework, conceptual framework and summary while chapter three will be the research methodology , chapter four will be the research findings and discussions and chapter five will be the summary conclusion and recommendations.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Credit and operational risks define the continued existence and viable of activities in the banking sector most notably their profitability. This study examines the role of credit and operational risks on the financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda.

2.1 Definitions of key terms and concepts

2.1.1. Credit risk

Credit risks are the probability of the loss (due to the non-recovery of) originating from the credit extended as a consequence of non fulfillment of contractual obligations occurring from indisposition or incapability of the counterparty or for any other reason. (Ciby, 2013). Arindam (2016) opinioned that credit risk are the budding that a bank borrower or a group of borrowers will be unsuccessful to meet its contractual obligations and the future loss linked with that. Bessis (2002) reflect on credit risk as the first off all risks in terms of importance and as the risk of turn down in the credit standing of an obligor of the issuer of bond or stock, and as the risk that customers default, meaning that they fail to comply with their obligations to service debt.

2.1.2. Operational risk

Operational risks are defined as those risks of malfunction system, internal procedures, reporting systems, and internal risk-monitoring regulations intended to take timely corrective actions, or the compliance with internal risk policy rules (Bessis, 2002). Alalade *et al.*, (2015) credit risk is the option that the actual return on an investment or loan extended will diverge from that, which was expected (Conford, 2000). Coyle (2000) defines credit risk as losses from the refusal or inability of credit customers to pay what is owed in full and on the due period. Girling, (2013) defines the operational risk as the loss consequential from inadequate or failed processes, people and systems or from non internal events.

2.1.3. Financial performance

Financial performance is the stage of performance of a business over a specific period of time, uttered in expressions of overall profits and losses throughout that time (Stoner, 2003)

Financial performance is a slanted measure of how well a firm can employ assets from its primary mode of business and engender revenues. This expression is also used as a general measure of a firm's overall financial health over a given period of time, and can be used to measure alike firms across the same industry or to compare industries or sectors in aggregation.

Kohlar (2010) stated that "Financial performance refers to the act of performing financial activity. In broader sense, financial performance refers to the level to which financial objectives being or has been accomplished. It is the process of quantifying the results of a firm's policies and operations in monetary terms. It is used to measure firm's overall financial health over a given period of time and can also be used to compare similar firms across the same industry or to compare industries or sectors in aggregation.

2.1.4. NPL ratio

According to Serwa (2013), he defines the non-performing ratio as a standard which is extensively used statistic to compute the financial performance of banking institutions. Furthermore (Meeker and Gray, 1987; Mendoza and Terrones, 2008) state that the non-performing loan ratio is repeatedly used to asses and to evaluate the quality of loan portfolios, analyze lending policies and the efficiency of banking sectors. (Aman and Miyazaki, 2009; Hasan and Wall, 2004; Cihák and Schaeck, 2010) emphasized that the non-performing loan is used to determine bank's equity also as a future prediction for bank' s breakdown and to schedule early advice models for financial volatility.

2.1.5 Return on Asset (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE)

According to MINECOFIN (2013-2018), the profitability indicators show that profitability in Rwandan banking system evidenced a substantial increase over the years; both return on equity (ROE) and return on assets (ROA) were 2.2% and 10.5% and 2.2% and 10.4% in 2011 and 2012 respectively. The upgrading in profitability can be clarified by the BNR increasent monitoring of the banking sector profitability pursued by the improvement in asset quality management that guide to capital adequacy ratio was at 23.9 compared to 25% in 2012 and 2011 correspondingly above the regulatory minimum capital of 15% and above 10% for G20 and Basel committee new benchmark.

2.2. Theoretical framework

2.2.1 Introduction

Risk is defined as the improbability that has adverse penalty on earning or prosperity, or the uncertainty associated with negative outcomes only (Bessis, 2015). (Adekunle, 2011) stated that the banking business by its nature is a high-risk surroundings which is perilous in the sense that it is the only industry where the proportion of borrowed funds is far advanced than the owner's equity (Adekunle, 2011).

Risk management study started with the Basel I after the Second World War around 1950. At this stage, it was mainly related to market risk (Dionne, 2013). In 1950, market risk was perceived as a very costly and incomplete for guard against pure risk. However, in the 1970's the market risk arose the use of derivatives as risk management instruments, which expanded speedily in the 1980's, when the strengthened their financial risk management, in the 1990's began international risk regulation, once the internal risk management and capital calculation formulation were developed by financial institutions to hedge against unexpected risks and reduce regulatory capital (Dionne, 2013). Furthermore, in 1988, the preliminary Basel I accord that consisted of provision of capital to soak up losses arising from credit risk. The losses occurred from credit risk was assessed in relation on the degree of credit risk in the banking sector. Nevertheless, such relation got criticized, through which the main criticisms include the limited differentiation of credit risk, also to not take into consideration market risk and was also very traditional posture on credit risk for it considered the potential of risk diversification and mesh of positions, which was a matching among maturities of long and short positions. In 1995, the meshing of risk positions for credit risk was allowed with those associated with derivatives (Dionne, 2013; Morton and Mun, 2008).

2.2.2. Credit Risk Theory

Risk management activity is defined as the recognition, measurement, monitoring, and control of risk which arise from the possibility of non-payment of loans higher to a mixture of clients (kithinji,2010), (Bessis, 2015) defines the credit risk of losses owed by the borrowers' non-payment or deterioration of credit standing, which is the risk that loaners fail to fulfill their debt obligations, the default cause a total or partial amount lent to the counterparty. The loans that are extended to the bank's client may result in risk of non-payment in circumstances while the bank

assumed that the loaners will faithfully pay back the amount due. In such circumstances it results in the payment inability of borrowers. (Brown and Moles, 2014) stated that credit risk is the probable that a contractual party that will fail to meet its obligations in agreement with the agreed terms which have an impact of credit effects on an industry's transactions through it various refer as default risk, performance risk or counterparty risk. (kuncoro, 2011:462) opinioned that credit risk commonly exists in all bank activities whose performance depends on the performance of counterparty, issuer or borrower which could be caused by the provision of intense fund to be presented non-performing loan (NPL), as the inability to apply the part or the whole obligation to the bank as promised. (BCBS, 2006) suggested for banks to apply the Know your customer principle as a strategy aimed at minimizing or eliminating credit risk.

Credit risk has a significant negative effect on financial performance. Beside credit risk, operational risk could affect financial performance. Operational risk is due to inadequacy or non-functioning internal process, human error, system failure, and/ or external events that can affect the bank's operation. This takes us to the view of sources of operational risk which include: human resources, internal process, system and infrastructure and external events. Operational risk in the present study will be proxied by the bank leverage, which is defined according to Basel III as the capital measure (the numerator) divided by the exposure measure (the denominator), the ratio is expressed as a percentage. This is the consistent with Stefan Ingyes (2014), opinion which states that a measure of set up regulatory regimes with a minimum requirement for liquidity, bank capital, leverage, funding and large exposures as well as behavioral standards on governance should be provided by almost all governments. Internal control and audit, fitness and propriety, risk management, in order to ensure that the high leverage inherent in bank business models are being carefully and prudently managed.

2.2.3. Operational risk theory

Girling (2013) point out that many banks are still struggling with the useful implementation of operational risk frameworks, which cause the daunting task of providing assurances to senior management and to board members that operational risks are being effectively managed and mitigated by the today chief officers. Credit risk and traditional market approaches offer only partial effectiveness in the operational risk ground.

Operational risk management appeared as a discipline as result of drivers from three main sources: regulators, senior management and third parties. For instance, with Basel II, there other narrow drivers for operational risk management including solvency II, which require Base I –like requirements on insurance firms, and a host of local policy such as the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID) legislation in Europe and Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Basel II regulations define the operational risk as the risk of defeat that is consequential from inadequate of unsuccessful processes, people and systems or from external events. However, this definition includes legal risk, but it excluded strategic and reputational risk. Basel II proposes that the operational risk and measurement should meet the following criteria: (1) identifying operational risks, (2) assessing the size of operational risks, (3) monitoring and controlling operational risks, (4) mitigating operational risks and (5) calculating capital to protect you from operational risk losses.

There is no relationship between operational risk and the financial performance of commercial banks in Rwanda.

2.3. Some background on Basel 1, 2, 3

According to Basel II, there were other narrow drivers for operational risk management including solvency II, which obliged Base I –like requirements on insurance firms, and a multitude of local regulations such as the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID) legislation in Europe and Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Noticed that the Operational Risk Management (ORM) has arisen as a discipline as result of drivers from three main sources: regulators, senior management and third parties. Girling(2013)

In addition, in 2003 Basel II rise and went beyond Basel I minimum capital requirements, permitting lenders to apply the internal models to determine regulatory capital while in search of ensuring that banks amend and improve risk management culture from the bottom up. A powerful risk management culture was associated to banks' capital requirements with prevailing modern risk management practices and with ensuring that the focus on risk is eminent to supervisory levels and market discipline through improved risk and capital related disclosures. (Morton and Mun, 2008). Through which it was mentioned three pillars which are: the first pillar, where the calculation of minimum capital requirements includes credit, market and

operational risk. The second pillar established supervisory evaluation explicitly as a central piece in the new capital allocation structure, where it needs to take an remarkable role not only of reviewing the bank's position and strategy, but also by ensuring that capital is in agreement with a bank's overall risk profile and where the bank is in conformity with regulatory capital minimum. Pillar three were examined in the perspective of increased link between banks' internal control and accounting and the contents of banking regulation, where the matter of improving market discipline through effective disclosure (the assessable of banks 'capital structures, risk exposures, risk management processes and capital adequacy by market participants). (Morton and Mun, 2008).

Basel II Accord attempted to convert relative measures of credit risks into complete measure and among the various risk metrics for setting limits for credit risks included:, loss given default and maturity, exposure, probability of default. The Accord has not yet fully acknowledged correlations among these 4 drivers. However, majority of banks use mainly default probability at various levels of complexity as the risk driver and ignore the three others drivers. In this view, someone should be interested to find out why the three others drivers have not been often used.

In addition, Carolyne (2004) exemplified that Basel II required financial institutions to integrate an explicit appraise of operational risk into their regulatory capital requirements which are applied to Bank Financial Institutions (BFIs) and are also required to be applied by additional types of financial institution such as insurance companies. Where the BFIs can prefer from these three major approaches: (1) The Standardized Approach (TSA) where the capital charge is still based on the gross income but the firm's activities are divided all along the business lines, each with their own percentage (Beta) charge., (2) The Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) which allows the firms to establish their operational risk capital charge according to the internal model given that the coalition with certain requirements. (3) the Basic Indicator Approach (BIA)where the capital requirement is to be based in a fixed percentage (alpha) of 1 % of gross income.

However, the definition given by Girling, (2002) includes legal risk, except it excluded strategic and reputational risk. Basel II proposes that the operational risk and measurement should meet the following criteria: (1) recognizing operational risks, (2) evaluating the size of operational

risks, (3) supervising and controlling operational risks, (4) extenuating operational risks and (5) calculating capital to protect you from operational risk losses.

In 2009 Basel III was established, later on in 2010 it was implemented with the new capital standard with the following features: (1) greatly boost the quality of banks' capital, (2) significantly augment the essential level of their capital, (3) decrease systemic risk and (4) allow enough time for a smooth transition to the new command (Caruana, 2010). (Cosimino, 2011) opined the new regulation was developed known as Basel III with aim of promoting the elasticity of the banking system and develop its ability to absorb shocks arising from financial and economic stress which are compulsory for banks to hold a larger amount of assets and enlarge the exposure of bank assets.

2.4 Empirical review

In this section presents different previous studies related to the topic under study.

According to the study of Gizaw *et al.*, (2013), The impact of credit risk on the profitability performance of commercial banks in Ethiopia, where secondary data were used from 8 selected commercial banks, for the period of 12 years (2003- 2015), Descriptive statistics and Panel data regression model, the profitability of commercial banks in Ethiopia was significantly affected by NPL, capital adequacy and loan provision, the study suggested that there was a need to enhance credit risk management in order to maintain the prevailing profitability of commercial banks in Ethiopia.

Oluwafemi *et al.*, (2014), Risk Management and Financial Performance of Banks in Nigeria, the study used secondary data based on 4 year progressive annual reports and financial statements of 10 banks , panel data estimation technique was adopted, the doubt loans, and capital asset ratio found to affect positively and significantly The financial performance of banks, where it suggested that the higher the managed funds by banks the higher the performance. The study concluded that there was a significant relationship between banks performance nad risk management. The study suggested that the banks need to practice prudent risks management in order to protect the interest of investors.

Fengge *et al.*, (2013), CVaR measurement and operational risk management in commercial banks according to the peak value method of extreme value theory: China, were the Conditional value-at-risk (CVaR) models based on the peak value method of extreme value theory were used to measure operational risk and loss data for commercial banks are used in an empirical analysis. The test are carried out using a CVaR model to calculate VaR and CVaR at 95% and 99% confidence level to assess expected and unexpected lossesfor operationl risk.the finding revealed that inspection for CVaR the fitting effect was best for the revised groups which resulted in chosing to use VaR and CVaR values.

Baasi (2018), Effects of Non-Performing Loans on the Profitability of Commercial Banks. A Study of four major banks on the Ghana Stock Exchange, a Panel regression analysis model was employed to establish the relationship between credit risk and profitability in order to account for heterogeneity among the four selected banks, for a data span of 2006 to 2015. E-views was used, where the analysis was conducted based on fixed effects model and correlated Random fixed effects- Hausman test. The study proxied ROE as profitability dependent variable and NPLR with capital adequacy ratio (CAR) as key explanatory variables. The study revealed that NPLR affected negatively profitability of banks while CAR showed a significant positive relationship with profitability. The study also revealed that bank size was in a positive relationship with profitability, where the R2 explained 89% of the variations on profitability performance on profitability performance of banks. The suggestion was that managers of banks are to comply strictly with the rules that regulate the operations of banks in Ghana especially on the issue of capital adequacy ratio, it also advise that bank should be cautious on the rate they expand since bank can equally affect the fortunes of banks also that central bank must also be up and doing to ensure that banks keep- to all ratios set down by the central bank, the banking regulations and the various bards.

Ekenci *et al.*, (2019), The Effect of Credit Risk, were 26 commercial banks were operating in turkey between 2005- 2017, the study used secondary data collected from the statistical report of the Banks Association Turkey. The study used three panels' considered respectively state-owned banks, privately- owned banks and foreign banks in order to compare banks according to their ownership structure. Return on Asset (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE) were considered as proxies for financial performance indicators while Non-Performing Loans (NPLs) was

considered as credit risk indicators. The results revealed that banks should focus more on credit risk management, in particular on the control and monitor on Financial Performance of Deposit Banks in Turkey, ROA, ROE and NPLs. The results suggested that banks should focus more on credit management, especially on the monitoring and control of non- performing loans. It suggested also that managers should focus more on modern credit risk management techniques.

Togtokh (2012), Credit risk measurement: the case study of Mongolian small and medium sized firms, the study aimed to re- examine Altman's Z-score model, and build comparable method by logistic regression, a credit scoring model technique. The data used was provided from Mongolian commercial bank where the analyzed forty two firms' financial statements which included bankrupted and non- bankrupted firms, for the period of 2007 to 2008. The result revealed that the prediction of Alman Z- score model was significantly high, 71 % while with logistic regression method where two ratios were considered: cash to total asset and retained earnings to total asset ratio, were significantly the predictor for firm's bankruptcy in Mongolian SMEs. The study concluded that the model derived from logistic regression was considerably lower than the Altman Z- score model.

Almajali *et al.*, (2012), Factors Affecting the Financial Performance of Jordanian Insurance Companies Listed at Amman Stock Exchange, where they considered 25 insurance companies for the period of 2002 to 2007, with data analyzed using T-test and Multiple- regression. The findings showed that there was a statistical and positive effect on the financial performance caused by: Leverage, liquidity, Management competence index and Size. They recommended that a high consideration of increasing the company asset were to lead to a good financial performance and there was a significant need to have highly qualified employees in the top managerial staff.

Alalade *et al.*, (2015), Credit risk management and financial performance of selected commercial banks in Nigeria, the study used panel data from 10 commercial banks listed on Nigeria Stock Exchange (NSE), for the period of 2006 to 2010. where they analyzed the impacts of some antecedents such as total loan and advances, non- performing loan and total asset on accounting, Return on equity (ROE) and Return on Assets (ROA), loan and advance loss provision. ROA, ROE and NPLs. The results revealed that financial performance was significantly affected by credit risk management. They recommended that maintaining minimum level of non- performing

loans in comparison with provision for loans and advances will enhance financial performance through its positive effect on return on equity.

Gadzo *et al.*, (2019), Credit risk and operational risk on financial performance of universal banks in Ghana: A partial least squared structural equation model (PLS SEM) approach, the PLS-SEM model, the data were collected from the 24 universal banks in Ghana, the results showed that Credit risk influences financial performance negatively similarly with the operational risks found to influence financial performance negatively. Bank specific variables (liquidity, asset quality, bank leverage and cost to income ratio) have significantly influenced positively credit and operational risks as well as the financial performance of the universal banks.

It was also found that operational risk influences the financial performance of the universal banks in Ghana negatively. Furthermore, the study indicated that bank specific variables measured by (asset quality, bank leverage, cost to income ratio and liquidity) significantly influence credit risk, operational risk as well as the financial performance of the universal banks positively. We recommend that banks be encouraged to cut-down their lending rates in other to decrease credit risk and subsequently boost profitability. Regarding operational risk, banks should reduce leverage and have their portfolio more concentrated on liquid investment income so as to boost profitability.

Muriithi (2016) stated that the effect of liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk and credit risk on financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. Secondary data were used from fortythree (43) licensed commercial banks in Kenya with their audited annual reports for the period of 2005 to 2014, and were collected using regression equations using an unbalanced panel data. The predictors measured in the study include: credit risk, operational risk, market risk and liquidity risk. Credit risk was measured by asset quality, loan & advance and capital to risk weighted asset, loan loss provision; operational risk was measured by cost income ratio; market risk was measured by interest rate risk, financial leverage, foreign currency exposure and liquidity risk was measure by net stable funding, liquidity coverage ratio and. The financial performance as the dependent was measured by ROE. The study concludes that a negative significant impact on the financial performance resulting from operational risk, credit risk liquidity risk and market risk on Kenyan commercial banks and operational risk was highlighted to have the greatest impact. Ng'aari (2016) also stated that the effect of risk management practices on profitability of listed commercial banks in Kenya for the periods 2002-2015. Secondary data were collected on operational risk management (asset utilization ratio as measure) and profitability (return on asset as measure) from the audited financial statement of the banks and liquidity risk management (equity capital to total capital as measure), credit risk management (total debt to total assets ratio as measure). The independent variables were liquidity risk management, credit risk management and operational risk management while the he dependent variable was profitability was. A panel regression analysis method was used to analyze the data and the result revealed that credit risk management, liquidity risk management and operational risk management are all positively and significantly correlated with bank profitability.

Bagram and Ali (2018) studied on commercial banks in Pakistan, the found that the bank performance was impacted positively by the effective risk management. The study used data collected from the published annual statement of five large banks and five small banks over the period 2005 to 2015. The independent variables were capital adequacy ratio, credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. The dependent variable was financial performance of banks measured by ROE. The analysis used the regression model. The results revealed that the risk management variables including Market risk (interest rate risk), liquidity risk, credit risk and operational risk have significant and negative effects on performance for large commercial banks, however, for small banks the impact of operational risk on performance was found to be significantly positive.

Nyarko-Baasi (2018), investigated on the effect of non-performing loans on profitability of four of the major banks listed on the Ghana Stock Exchange (GSE) as this could contribute to a healthy financial system and also enhance profitability in banks. Panel regression analysis was used to ascertain the correlation between credit risk and profitability in order to account for heterogeneity among selected banks; Standard Chartered Bank (SCG), ECO Bank Ghana (EBG), Cal Bank (CBG) and Ghana Commercial Bank (GCB) for a data span of 2006 to 2015. By the use of Eveiws, the analysis was conducted based on fixed effects model and Correlated Random fixed effects - Hausman test. The study proxied return on equity (ROE) for profitability - dependent variable. Non-performing loan ratio (NPLR) and capital adequacy ratio (CAR) were the two key explanatory variables. The study revealed that NPLR negatively affect profitability

of banks but rate of CAR showed a significant positive relationship with profitability. Bank Size equally showed a positive relationship with profitability. The R² explained 89 % of the variations on profitability performance of the banks. Managers of banks are to comply strictly with the rules that regulate the operations of banks in Ghana especially on the issue of capital adequacy ratio. Banks should also be cautious on the rate they expand since bank size can equally affect the fortunes of banks. The central bank must also be up and doing to ensure that banks keep- to all ratios set down by the Central Bank, the banking regulations and the various bards.

Fadum and oye (2020), in their study where they analyze the impact of operational risk management practices on the financial performance of commercial banks in Nigeria. Where they used secondary data extracted from audited financial statements for the selected commercial banks in Nigeria for a period of 10 years (208-2017) and with Linear Multiple Regression model. The results revealed that there were a positive relationship between operational risk management and the financial performance of banks. The findings revealed that sound operational risk management practices affect positively the financial performance of banks. They recommended that bank's management should deploy adequate resources towards understanding operational risk to ensure sound operational management and improved financial performance of banks.

Al-Shakrchy(2017) in his study which investigated on the impact of credit- risk exposure management on bank profitability of the major commercial banks in Sweden with emphasis on the financial crisis of 2008 where they tested empirically whether risk managing in ways to significantly reduce the profitability that defaulted loans and how the Swedish bank might keep out credit crisis with their credit activities with the aim of finding out the issues arising from the bank lending activities which have had serious impact on the banking industry and financial instability. Furthermore, the paper explores whether credit exposure manage procedures are changed during financial crisis. In their findings from empirical analysis in the pre-crisis period indicated that NPL and reserve ratio for impaired loan affected the bank performance and profitability negatively; the loans to deposit ratio shows a positive relationship with ROE as a proxy of banks' profitability. Furthermore it was found that the NPL and LTD had a negative effect on banking profitability while reserve ratio for impaired loan coefficient exerted a positive effect on ROE during and in the post-crisis period. They concluded that impact of the bank-

specific variables on banks" profitability is not always uniform and differentiate between the pre and post -financial crisis periods due to changes in economic and financial conditions.

Although all the mentioned above studies did the research on credit risk apart or operational risk apart, or both combined together none of the mentioned studies above have been made on both credit risk and operational risk combined on their effect to the financial performance to commercial banks in Rwanda using the partial least square a structural equation modeling.

2.5 Literature gap

According to the studies mentioned in the empirical review it shows that many studies have been made on each variable apart not as two combined and the ones that have been made combining the two variables was not made on the commercial banks in Rwanda, which means that there are no substantial studies that have addressed the effect of credit and operational risks on financial profitability within commercial banks like Bank of Kigali and I&M Bank. Which are using structural equation model (SEM). In addition, the literature is silent on the measures of credit and operational risks as required by Basel II & III pillar II. This study covers these literature gaps by using the PLE-SEM in assessing the relationship between credit, operational risks and financial performance of banks.

2.6 Figure of Conceptual Framework



CHAPTER III: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1. Research design

This study used quantitative design since it seeks to ascertain the effect of both operational risk and credit risk on banks' performance. In quantitative design, it will be used the Partial Least Squared Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM). Fan (2016) opinioned that the reason to use the structural equation modeling it is that it is powerful and multivariate model which is used in scientific analysis to test and evaluate multivariate causal relationship as it differs from other modeling approaches for which test the direct and indirect effects on pre-assumed causal relationship. Nitzl (2016) opined that SEM is the flexible testing model that allows to apply several predictors and criterion variables, construct latent (unobservable) variables, model errors in measurement for observed variables and test mediation and moderation relationship in a single model. Longitudinal research which is defined as data gathered during the observation of subjects on a number of variables over time (Van der Kamp and Bijlieved, 1998).

3.2. Population and Sampling

According to the National Bank of Rwanda's monetary and financial stability statement of 28th August 2020¹, there are sixteen banking institutions operating in Rwanda of which eleven (11) are commercial banks, 3 are microfinance institutions, one is a cooperative bank, and one is a Development bank. This study considers the population of commercial banks operating in Rwanda. Based on the availability of data, only five banks were chosen as the sample size and are observed over the period 2013 to 2018. The sampled banks include Bank of Kigali (BK), I&M Bank, COGEBANK, Access Bank, Banque Populaire du Rwanda (BPR). State the reason why you only considered five banks.

3.3. Data collection

Data was collected from secondary data of five commercial selected banks (Access Bank, BK, BPR, COGEBANQUE, I&M Bank), for the period 2013 to 2018. Data were collected from financial statements and annual reports of all the five selected commercial banks that are

¹ National Bank of Rwanda's monetary and financial stability statement of 28th August 2020¹, available on <u>www.bnr.rw</u>, accessed in October 2020

registered on the Rwanda Stock-Exchange as they are ones with trustable data. With financial statement reports, the following variables will be used: return on asset ratio (ROA), Return on Equity (ROE), NPL, leverage ratio, , size of the firm, age and others. In addition, ROA and ROE are the indicators of measuring managerial efficiency.

3.4. Measurement of variables

Latent variables	Variables to be observed	Formula
Operational risk	Leverage ratio	 Dividing the capital by the average total consolidated assets. Where the capital is calculated by adding its stockholders' equity and retained earnings and subtracting goodwill
Credit risk	Non- performing Loans	• The ratio of the amount of nonperforming loans in the bank's loan portfolio to the total amount of outstanding loans the bank holds.
Financial	• Return On Asset	• The ROA is the division of
performance	• Return On Equity	the net income by the Average total assets.ROE is the division of the net income by shareholder's equity
Bank controls	Size of the firmAge	 The natural logarithm of total assets The actual year minus the foundation year.

Table 3.1: Formula

Source: Authors construct (2019) based of reviewed literature

3.5. Data analysis

The research uses the SEM as technique to estimate the parameters and we have used maximum likelihood, with specification, diagnostic and goodness-of-fit analysis where we have (1) Hausman specification test,(2) Overall goodness of fit, (3) Equation-level goodness of fit, (4) Matrix of residuals, (5) Assess stability of non-recursive systems, (6) Information

criteria -AIC and BIC; we were supposed to use all these tests but with time limitation we only used "Overall goodness of fit".

Apart from PLS and SEM, this research will analyze the profitability performance through the return on asset ratio (ROA), the higher the ROA the better the bank profit. With the Return on Equity (ROE) and the two independent variables will be credit risk and operational risk.

Where:

 $ROA = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 NPL + \alpha_2 Leverage \ ratio + \alpha_3 Banksize + \alpha_4 Age + \varepsilon \ (Equation 1)$ $ROE = \beta_0 + \beta_1 NPL + \beta_2 Leverage \ ratio + \beta_3 Banksize + \beta_4 Age + \varepsilon \ (Equation 2)$

In addition, we used the scale of the Pearson correlation coefficient which determines the strength of the correlation. According to Cohen (1988), states that even though there are no hard-and- fast rules for transfer strength of association to particular values through some general procedure he provided:

Table 3.2: Interpretation of Correlation			
Coefficient Value	Strength of Associatio		

Coefficient value	Strength of Association
0.1 < <i>r</i> < .3	Small correlation
0.3 < <i>r</i> < .5	Medium/moderate correlation
<i>r</i> >.5	Large/strong correlation

Source: Cohen, J. (1988).

Where |r| means the absolute value or r (e.g., |r| > 0.5 means r > 0.5 and r < -0.5). Where the coefficient of determination is the proportion of variance in one variable that is explained by the other variable and is calculate as the square of the correlation coefficient (r^2).

CHAPTER 4: ANALYSIS OF RESULTS

4.1 Introduction

This chapter analyzes and discusses results obtained from the PLE-SEM estimations for the period 2013-2018. It is composed of three sections. Section 4.2 provides information on the commercial banks sampled. Section 4.3. Provides a descriptive summary statistic of the variables used in this study. Section 4.4 discusses the regression results from model estimations.

4.2 Summary description of the banks used in the sample.

This section provides information on the banks used namely BK, I&M, COGEBANQUE, Access Bank and BPR, where by:

Bank's name	Incorporation date	Products and services	The total asset	Branches/ employees
BK	22 nd December 1966	Loans, checking, savings,	As of 31 December 2019, the	79 networked branches,
		investments, mortgages	bank's total assets were	nearly 100 automated teller
		Internet Banking, Insurance	valued at US\$1, 1059	machines, more than 1,427
		services	million, with a loan book of	banking agents, six mobile
			\$735.8 million, customer	banking vans and
			deposits of \$697.4 million	employed over 1,200 staff
			and shareholders' equity of	(December 2018)
			US\$239.6 million.	
I&M Bank	1963	Loans, Checking, Savings,	US\$344.6 million	14 blanches with 370
		Investments, Debit Cards	(RWF:317.9 billion)	employees (December
			(December 2019)	2019)
Access Bank	January 2009	Standby Letter of Credit.	\$26.84 million in sales	8 branches and 159 total
		Standby letters of	(USD).	employees across all of its
		credit/Guarantees are		locations and generates).
		instruments used by the		
		bank on behalf of its		
		customers;		
		Trade Services. Trading		
		across borders is a complex		
		activity;		
		Bills for Collection;		
		Credit Information;		
		Letters of Credit;		
		Trade Finance;		
		Distributor Credit Plans		
COGEBANQUE	17 ^m July 1999	account. CURRENT	\$21.69 million in sales	28 branches, 36 ATM
		ACCOUNTS. SAVINGS	(USD).	location with 331

Table 4.1 Overview of the selected banks

		ACCOUNTS.		employees as of December
		digital banking. I	Mobile	2019
		Banking. Internet Ba	anking.	
		card solutions.	ATM.	
		transfers. agency ban	ıking.	
		loans. Gisubizo	Loan	
		Express. HOME LO	OANS.	
		CAR I	LOAN.	
		EQUIPMENT I	LOAN.	
		overdrafts.		
		prestige accounts.		
BPR	1975	current and s	savings RWF:273.201	Billion As of March 2019, Bank
		accounts, debit and	credit (US\$320 Million) (20	17) Populaire du Rwanda
		cards, mortgages and	l loans.	maintained a network of
		The bank offers cor	nsumer	nearly 200 full-service
		banking tools like	mobile	branches, and over 100
		banking, as wel	ll as	ATMs in all Regions of
		agricultural bu	usiness	Rwanda with 930
		expertise to con	rporate	employees as for 2020
		customers in the foo	od and	
		agri-business value cl	hain	
Source: https://en.wikipedia	a.org/wiki/I%26M_Bank_]	Rwanda, consulted on 1	13 February 2021	

4.3 Descriptive statistics

This section summarizes the statistics for the variables used in this study. In addition, it discusses summary statistics for variables with respect to each bank. Finally, the section reports correlations among variables using a correlation matrix.

With reference to the descriptive statistics, Table 4.2 below summarizes the means and standard deviations for the variables used in this study:

Tuble 4. 2. Summary statistics						
	Std.					
Variable	Obs	Mean	Dev.	Min	Max	
Age	30	35.9	15.15	14	55	
Bank size	30	8.287	0.323	7.69	8.94	
Leverage ratio	30	6.53	1.846	3.51	11.38	
NPL ratio	30	5.91	3.076	2.5	13.5	
ROA	30	0.027	0.015	0	0.05	
ROE	30	0.194	0.106	0	0.5	

 Table 4. 2: Summary statistics

Source: Computed by Researcher from the secondary data from 2013 to 2018

Results in Table 4.1 sum up the mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum values for all variables under study. On average, banks have been in operation for 36 years. Banks total assets are on average 82 million Rwfs- The leverage is on average 6.5 and non-performing loans are as high as 6%. The average return on assets is 3% and the average return on assets is 19% for all banks.

	Leverage		Bank			NPL
Bank	ratio	Age	size	ROA	ROE	ratio
Access Bank	6.495	20.5	7.842	0.017	0.105	4.883
BPR	7.838	40.5	8.318	0.015	0.140	11.22
Bank of Kigali	4.56	49.5	8.778	0.042	0.218	5.567
COGEBANQUE	7.705	16.5	8.212	0.022	0.210	4.067
I&M Bank	6.052	52.5	8.287	0.042	0.297	3.817
Total	6.53	35.9	8.287	0.0273	0.194	5.91

 Table 4. 3. Summary statistics of variables by bank name

Source: Computed by Researcher from the secondary data from 2013 to 2018

Table 4.3 reveals that on average, the leverage ratio for all banks was 6.53%, the highest and lowest leverage ratio were respectively 7.838% for BPR and 4.56% for BK. However, based on the theory on leverage ratio it should be noted that the leverage ratios are used to verify the relative level of debt loan that a business has acquired. Furthermore, these ratios compare the

total debt obligation to either the assets or equity of business, a high ratio indicates that a business may have incurred a higher level of debt than it can be sensibly expected to service with ongoing cash flows. This is a major concern, since elevated leverage is associated with heightened risk of bankruptcy. In this context, the results in Table 4.3 revealed that BK had have the lowest level of debt while BPR and Cogebank had have a highest level of debt that can be probably associated with heightened risk of bankruptcy.

A NPLs is a loan in which the borrower is defaulting and hasn't made any planned payments of principal or interest for a period of time, in baking commercial loans are considered non-performing if the borrower is 90 days past due and the International Monetary Fund (IMF) considers loans are less than 90 days due as nonperforming if there's high uncertainty adjacent future payments.

The average of NPLs for the five commercial banks in Table 4.3 is 5.91% which is above 4.91% in 2019. The highest and lowest values of the NPLs were respectively 11.22% for BPR and 3.817% for I &M Bank. The results in Table 4.2 indicated that BPR presents high level of NPLs compared to the rest of the commercial Banks.

With ROA, the results in Table 4.3 revealed that two banks BK and I&M Bank had have the highest ROA of 4.2% while BPR and Access Bank had had the lowest ROA respectively 1.5% and 1.7%. With ROE, the results in Table 4.1 revealed that two banks I&M Bank had have the highest ROE of 2.97% while BPR and Access Bank had had the lowest ROA respectively 14% and 10.5%.

Given the trend of ROA and ROE in the country as stipulated by National Bank, the profitability pointers show that profitability in Rwandan banking system evidenced a significant increase over the years as shown in figure 4.3 both return on equity (ROE) and return on assets (ROA) were 2.2% and 10.5% and 2.2% and 10.4% in 2011 and 2012 respectively. The enhancement in profitability can be explained by the BNR incressant supervision of the banking sector profitability followed by the expansion in asset quality management that lead to capital adequacy ratio was at 23.9 compared to 25% in 2012 and 2011 correspondingly above the regulatory minimum capital of 15% and above 10% for G20 and Basel committee new benchmark.

With bank age, the results in Table 4.2 revealed that two banks BK and I&M Bank are the oldest with respectively with 49.5 and 52.5 years while Cogebank and Access Bank are youngest respectively 16.5 and 20.5 years.

With size, the results in Table 4.3 revealed that two banks BK and BPR had have the highest size respectively of 8.778 and 8.318 while Cogebank and Access Bank had had the smallest size respectively 8.212and 7.842.

4.2 Bivariate Analysis

In this section it has been question of examining the relationship variables 2 by 2. Table 4.4 below illustrates the different correlation coefficient computed from the Spearman's Rho correlation between variables 2 by 2. Spearman correlation was used since the normality of each variable was not been tested. Given that the results in Table 4.4 are not both significant the researcher interpreted only the results which are statistically significant means those which have one star(*) or two stars (**). The interpretation of the results on correlation was referred to Table 3 in chapter 3 section 3.5.

		Leverage				
	NPL	ratio	Bank size	Age	ROA	ROE
NPL	1					
Leverage						
ratio	0.3115	1				
Bank size	0.0915	-0.4131	1			
Age	0.1529	-0.3960*	0.6771**	1		
ROE	-0.3800*	0.0469	0.236	0.3443	1	
ROA	-0.4507*	-0.421*	0.5008**	0.6017**	0.813*	1
*=Correlation is	s significant at th	e 0.01 level (2-t	ailed), **= Corre	lation is significa	nt at the 0.05 lev	vel (2-tailed).
Services Converted by Decomplete from a construction data from 2012 to 2019						

Table 4. 3: Correlation Matrix

Source: Computed by Researcher from secondary data from 2013 to 2018.

Pair wise correlations among independent variables may be high (in absolute value). Rule of thumb: If the correlation > 0.8 then severe multicollinearity may be present. Correlation is used to test the multicollinearity of two or more independent variables before to use them in the regression model. The rule of thumb states that if the correlation is great than 0.8 then there is a presence of severe multicollinearity and the researcher may opt for the following options: (1) transform the multi-collinear variables, (2) increase the sample size, (3) do nothing, (4). Drop the redundant variable. However, given the researcher background, the first option was chosen and we had used in the model both inflation and interest rate even though they had in absolute value r=0.829>0.8.

Table 4.4 shows that there is a negative and moderate correlation between leverage ratio and ROA at level of 5% significance (r=-0.439, p<0.05), is a negative and moderate correlation between liquidity ratio and NPL at level of 5% significance (r= -0.378, p<0.05), a positive and moderate correlation between bank size and ROA at level of 5% significance (r=0.460, p<0.05), a negative and moderate correlation between bank size and leverage ratio at level of 1% significance (r=-0.478,p<0.01).

4.4 Multivariate Analysis

This section reports regression results from the PLE-SEM estimations. Below, model description, estimations and results are discussed.

4.4.1 Model description

Structural equation modeling (SEM) is a dominant, multivariate technique increasingly in scientific analysis to test and evaluate multivariate causal relationship, which is a logical of causal modeling via path analysis (Fan, 2016). Hox et al., (1998) defines it as a very general statistical modeling technique which is frequently applied in the behavioral sciences. And is a mixture of factor analysis and regression or path analysis. Which gives a theoretical construct of the latent factors, which are presented by regression or path coefficients between the factors and it implies a structure for the covariances between the experiential variables.

This study assesses the following model:

 $ROA = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 NPL + \alpha_2 Leverage \ ratio + \alpha_3 Banksize + \alpha_4 Age + \varepsilon$ (A)

Where ROA=return on assets, α_0 =intercept, α_i =slopes (i=1 to 4), ε =term error

 $ROE = \beta_0 + \beta_1 NPL + \beta_2 Leverage \ ratio + \beta_3 Banksize + \beta_4 Age + \varepsilon$ (B)

Where ROE=return on Equity, β_0 =intercept, β_i =slopes (i=1 to 4), ε =term error

4.4.2 Model description

With the SEM, the model A and model B were broken down as:

Model 1 : NPLs= $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1$ *banksize + α_2 *bankage + e_1

Model 2: Leverage ratio= $\beta_0 + \beta_1$ *banksize + β_2 *bankage + e_2

Model 3:ROE= $K_0 + K_1$ *NPLs+ K_2 *Leverage ratio + K_3 *banksize + K_4 *bankage + e_3

Model 4:ROA= $d_0 + d_1$ *NPLs+ d_2 *Leverage ratio + d_3 *banksize + d_4 *bankage + e_4

4.4.3 Estimation results.

Figure 4.1: The coefficients path



Were by the:

- **ɛ** stands for the error variance
- the path between the $\epsilon_1 \longrightarrow \epsilon_2$ represents the covariance between the NPL and Leverage ratio
- The paths between the variables represent the unstandalized path (coefficient)
- the path between the €3→€4 represents the covariance between the Return on assets (ROA) and return on equity (ROE)

The following table, Table 4.5 below presents the results on standardized estimate coefficients, standard deviation, Z-scores, p-values presence or lack of effect and decision that was been taken on H_0 .

DV	IV	Coefficient	Standard deviation	Z	P-value	Presence of effect	Decision on Ho
	Bank size	-0.211	2.33	-0.09	0.928	No effect	Fails to Reject Ho
NPL	Age	0.034	0.05	0.68	0.49	No effect	Fails to Reject Ho
	Cons	6.432	18.172	0.35	0.723	N/A	5
T	Bank size	-1.528	1.27	-1.2	0.229	No effect	Fails to Reject Ho
Leverage	Age	-0.026	0.03	-0.97	0.334	No effect	Fails to Reject Ho
1 atio	Cons	20.133	9.898	2.03	0.042	N/A	
	NPL	-0.022	0.005	-4.42	0.000	There is effect	Reject Ho
DOD	Leverage ratio	0.03	0.009	3.27	0.001	There is effect	Reject Ho
ROE	Bank size	0.043	0.06	0.72	0.471	No effect	Fails to Reject Ho
	Age	0.004	0.001	3.05	0.002	There is effect	Reject Ho
	Cons	-0.368	0.484	-0.76	0.447	N/A	
	NPL	-0.003	0.0005	-5.05	0.000	There is effect	Reject of Ho
DOA	Leverage ratio	0.0006	0.001	0.55	0.581	No effect	Fails to Reject Ho
ROA	Bank size	0.008	0.007	1.24	0.216	No effect	Fails to Reject Ho
	Age	0.0006	0.0001	4.1	0.000	There is effect	Reject Ho
	Cons	-0.047	0.053	-0.9	0.37	N/A	-
Var(e.npl)		8.929	2.306				
Var(e.roa)		0.0000658	0.000017				
Var(e.roe)		0.005527	0.0014271				
Var(e.levra	tio)	2.649411	0.684514				
Cov(e.npl,	e.levrat)	2.024127	0.9618514	2.1	0.035		
Cov(e.roa,	e.roe)	0.0005115	0.000144	3.54	0.000		

Table 4.5. reports regression results from the PLE-SEM estimations as follows:

Source: Computed by researcher from secondary 2013-2018.

4.4.4 Effect of credit and operational risks on ROE

Table 4.5 presents the results on the effects of the different variables considered in this study. The different effects were being examined through model 1, model 2, model 3 and model 4:

(1) Effect of age and bank size on npl

To examine the effect of age and bank size on npl, the model 1 was expressed into the following equation:

Model 1: NPLs= $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1$ *banksize + α_2 *bankage + e_1

From the results in Table 4.5, the model 1 is:

npl =6.432 – 0.211 bank size +0.034 age

Therefore, we concluded that path from bank size to npl was negative but not statistically significant (b=-0.211, SE=2.33, p=0.928, β = -0.022). [β =standardized path coefficient] there is no effect of bank size on npl since p-value was p=0.928>0.05. It was concluded that the path from age to npl was positive, but not statistically significant (b=0.034, SE= 0.05, p=0.49, β = 0.168), there is no effect of age on npl given that p=0.49>0.05.

(2) Effect of Bank size and age on leverage ratio

Here the leverage ratio was expressed as a function of bank size and age under the following equation:

Model 2: Leverage ratio= $\beta_0 + \beta_1$ *banksize + β_2 *bankage + e_2

Leverage ratio =20.13-1.528 banksize -0.026 Bankage

Therefore, we concluded that the path from bank size to leverage ratio was negative but not statistically significant (b= -1.528, SE= 1.27, p= 0.229, β = -0.268). There is no effect of bank size on leverage ratio since p- value was p= 0.229> 0.05. It was also concluded that the path from age to leverage ratio was negative, but not statistically significant (b= -0.026, SE= 0.03, p= 0.334, β = -0.215) there is no effect of age on leverage ratio given that p= 0.334> 0.05).

(3) Effect of NPL, Leverage ratio, Bank size, and age on Return on Equity (ROE)

Here the ROE was expressed as a function of NPL, Leverage ratio, bank size and age under the following equation:

Model 3: ROE= $K_0 + K_1$ *NPLs+ K_2 *Leverage ratio + K_3 *banksize + K_4 *bankage + e_3

ROE= -0.368 -0.022 NPL+0.03 Leverage ratio+0.043 Bank size +0.004 Bank Age

Therefore, we concluded that the path from NPL to ROE was negative but statistically significant, which means that the NPL was found as negative predictor to ROE (b= -0.022, SE= 0.005, p= 0.000, β = -0.640). There is effect of NPL on ROE given that p= 0.000< 0.05). It was found that the path from Leverage ratio to ROE was positive and statistically significant, which means that Leverage ratio was found to be a positive predictor to ROE (b=0.03, SE= 0.009, p= 0.001, β = 0.522), there is effect of leverage ratio on ROE given that p= 0.001<0.05). it was found that the path from Bank size to ROE was positive but statistically no significant, which means that Bank size was found to have no positive effect to ROE (b=0.042, SE= 0.06, p= 0.471, β = 0.131). There is no effect of Bank Size to ROE given that p= 0.471 > 0.05. It was also found that the path from Age to ROE was positive and

statistically significant, which means that Age was found to have a positive effect to ROE (b=0.004, SE= 0.001, p= 0.002, β = 0.56). There is an effect of age to ROE given that p= 0.002 < 0.05.

(4) Effect of NPL, Leverage ratio, Bank size, and age on Return on Asset (ROA)

Here the ROA was expressed as a function of NPL, Leverage ratio, bank size and age under the following equation:

Model 4: ROA= $K_0 + K_1$ *NPLs+ K_2 *Leverage ratio + K_3 *banksize + K_4 *bankage + e_3

Model 4 was expressed into the following null hypothesis H₀₂ that states that 'Credit risk management and operational risk do not affect ROA of commercial banks in Rwanda'

ROA= -0.047 -0.003 NPL+0.0006 Leverage ratio+0.008 Bank size +0.0006 Bank Age

Therefore, we concluded that path from NPL to ROA was negative but statistically significant, which means that the NPL was found as negative predictor to ROA (b= -0.003, SE= 0.0005, p= 0.000, β = -0.58). There is effect of NPL on ROA given that p= 0.000< 0.05). It was found that the path from Leverage ratio to ROA was positive but statistically no significant, which means that Leverage ratio was found not to be a positive predictor to ROA (b=0.0006, SE= 0.001, p= 0.581, β = 0.67), there is no effect of leverage ratio on ROA given that p= 0.581>0.05). It was found that the path from Bank size to ROA was positive but statistically no significant, which means that Bank size was found to have no positive effect to ROA (b=0.008, SE= 0.007, p= 0.216, β = 0.178). There is no effect of Bank Size to ROA given that p= 0.216 > 0.05. It was also found that the path from Age to ROA was positive and statistically significant, which means that Age was found to have a positive effect to ROA (b=0.0006, SE= 0.0001, p= 0.000, β = 0.597). There is an effect of age to ROA given that p= 0.000 < 0.05.

Results in Table 4.5 revealed that NPL as a predictor associated to variables such as leverage ratio, bank size and bank age affect negatively ROA (b= -0.003; SD=0.005; p<0.001). This result implies to conclude that H₀₂ that states that the NPLs associated to variables such as leverage ratio, bank size and bank age affect financial performance. Therefore, H₀₂ was rejected. This result corroborates with the findings in the researchers carried out by Gadzo *et al.*,(2019) and Fadun & Oye (2020). In addition, the results in Table 4.4 showed also that Leverage ratio was not significantly positive predictor of ROA (b=0.006; SD= 0.0006; p> 0.55), which indicate that H₀₂ was not rejected if the independent variable were NPLs and

age; this result do contradict the results in Gadzo *et al.*,(2019) and Fadun & Oye (2020) studies.

In this section, both credit and operational risks are modeled against returns on equity. Bank controls are also included in the estimation of the result. Results in Table 4.5 revealed that a higher credit risk as proxied by NPL ratio significantly reduces banks' return on assets. This implies that banks with higher loan defaults are the least performers. The coefficients are negative and statistically significant. In addition, results in Table 4.5 showed that operational risks moderately and positively affect banks' return on assets. This implies that operational risks do not adversely affect banks performance (ROE).

Table 4.5 also reports results on the effects of bank controls. Specifically, banks' size as proxies by total assets moderately and positively affects banks' return on equity. In addition, banks' age significantly and positively affects banks ROE. This implies that older banks are better performers than young banks. Our results show that hypotheses H_{01} and H_{02} are rejected and H_{a1} and H_{a2} were accepted. Covariance between npl and leverage is 2.024 with p-value p=0.035 <0.05 and covariance between npl and leverage is 0.0005 with p-value p=0.000<0.01.

In sum, the results in Table 4.5 provide enough evidence to conclude that credit risk management and operational risk measured respectively by NPLs and leverage ratio, associated to control variables such as bank size and bank age were not both affecting the financial performance measured by ROA. It was find that only NPLs does affect negatively ROA while leverage ratio does not affect ROA. The result on NPLs and ROA corroborates with the findings in the researchers carried out by Gadzo *et al.*,(2019) and Fadun & Oye (2020). However, with the result on Leverage and ROA it was find that the result does contradict the findings in Gadzo *et al.*,(2019) study. Furthermore, it was found that the associated variables to the independent variable such as bank size did not have any effect on the bank profitability, while bank age variable had had a positive effect on ROA (b= 0.0005, p<0.01). The researcher did not discuss the results on the effect of bank size on ROA, since there were not statistically significant.

CHAPTER FIVE: MAJOR FINDINGS, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

5.1 introduction

This chapter discusses the results from the study which aim was to assess the effect of credit risk management and operational risk on financial performance of selected commercial banks in Rwanda. In order to achieve the above objective, credit risk and operational risk were measured respectively by NPLs and leverage ratio while financial performance was measured by ROE and ROA. Furthermore, credit risk and operational risk were associated to control variables such as age and bank size.

This study used secondary data and with regard to sample, it was chosen all certified financial statements of 5 commercial banks that were registered within the Rwanda Stock Exchange or any commercial bank that had have complete data from the period of 2010 to 2019 was selected. The study opted for quantitative design since it was seeking to determine the effect of both operational risk and credit risk on banks' performance. Hence, the statistical method named 'Partial Least Squared Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM)' was used to assess the effect of both operational risk and credit risk on banks' performance.

5.2 Discussion of findings

Findings are discussed according to study objectives as follow:

5.2.1 To assess the levels of operational risks in commercial banks:

Findings for these objectives are shown in Table 4.1. Operational risk is measured by leverage ratio. On average banks' leverage ratio is at 6.5. However, there are variations among banks with respect to leverage ratios. For instance, the highest and lowest leverage ratio was respectively 7.838% for BPR and 4.56% for BK. However, based on the theory on leverage ratio it should be noted that the leverage ratios are applied to verify the relative level of debt load that a business has acquire Furthermore, these ratios evaluate the total debt obligation to either the assets or equity of business, a high ratio shows that a business may have incurred a higher level of debt than it can be logically expected to service with continuing cash flows. This is a main concern since high leverage is combined with heightened risk of bankruptcy. In this context, the results in Table 4.2 revealed that BK had have the lowest level of debt while BPR and COGEBANK had a highest level of debt that can be probably associated with heightened risk of bankruptcy.

5.2.2 To assess the levels of credit risks in commercial banks:

This study uses NPL ratio as the measure of credit risk. A NPL is a loan in which the borrower is defaulting and hasn't made any planned payments of principal or interest for a given period of time, in baking sector loans given by commercial banks are considered as non-performing if the borrower is 90 days past due and the International Monetary Fund (IMF) considers loans are less than 90 days due as nonperforming if there's high uncertainty nearby future payments.

The average of NPLs for the five commercial banks in Table 4.3 is 5.91% which is above 4.91% in 2019. The highest and lowest values of the NPLs were respectively 11.22% for BPR and 3.817% for I &M Bank. The results in Table 4.3 indicated that BPR presents high level of NPLs compared to the rest of the commercial Banks.

5.2.3. To assess the levels of bank performance in commercial banks

Bank's performance is measured by Return on Asset and Return on Equity (ROA and ROE). Results in Table 4.1 revealed that two banks BK and I&M Bank had have the highest ROA of 4.2% while BPR and Access Bank had had the lowest ROA respectively 1.5% and 1.7%. With ROE, the results in Table 4.1 revealed that two banks I&M Bank had have the highest ROE of 2.97% while BPR and Access Bank had had the lowest ROA respectively 14% and 10.5%.

Given the trend of ROA and ROE in the country as stipulated by National Bank, the profitability indicators illustrate that profitability in Rwandan banking system recorded a significant raise over the years as shown in figure 4.2 both return on equity (ROE) and return on assets (ROA) were 2.2% and 10.5% and 2.2% and 10.4% in 2011 and 2012 respectively. The enhancement in profitability can be explained by the BNR continuous monitoring of the banking sector profitability followed by the progress in asset quality management that direct to capital adequacy ratio was at 23.9 compared to 25% in 2012 and 2011 respectively above the regulatory minimum capital of 15% and above 10% for G20 and Basel committee new benchmark.

5.2.4 To establish the relationship between operational, credit risks and financial performance.

Results show that a higher credit risk as proxied by NPL ratio significantly reduces bank's return on assets. This implies that banks with higher loan defaults are the least performers. In

addition, results show the operational risks moderately and positively affect banks' return on assets. This implies that operational risks do not adversely affect banks' financial performance (ROE). Results show that credit risks as proxied by NPL significantly reduces a bank's return on assets. This implies that banks with higher credit risks (loan defaults) are worst performers in terms of income. Results also reveal that higher operational risks as proxied by leverage ratio are worst performers. Overall, both credit and operation risks significantly reduce bank's return on asset. The results in this study provide enough evidence to conclude that credit risk and operation risk measured by NPLs and leverage ratio, associated to control variable such as bank size and bank age were not affecting the financial performance measured by ROA. The results on NPLs and ROA corroborates with the findings in research carried out by Gadzo Et al.,(2019) and Fadun &Oye(2020).

However, with the results on Leverage and ROA it was found that the results don't contradict the findings in Gadzo *Et al.*,(2019) study. The results in this study revealed that credit risk (NPLs) and operational risk (leverage ratio) do affect negatively and positively financial performance measured by Roe when we are using the control variables such as bank size and bank age . The findings are not in unanimity with the several empirical works which have concluded that bank performance is positively related to credit risk such as Nduku (2013), Abba *et al.*,(2014), Chimkono *et al.*, (2016) and Al-Shakrchy (2017).the results of credit risk management (NPLs)and leverage ration ROE corraborate with the findings of research of Bagram and Ali (2018), Gadzo *et al.*,(2019) and Fadun & Oye (2020).

5.3 Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to assess the effect of credit risk and operational risk on financial performance of selected Rwandan commercial banks that are registered at Rwanda Stock Exchange. The specific objectives were to assess the levels of credit risk, operational risks, and bank's financial performance, and to examine the effects of both credit and operational risks on the financial performance of commercial banks operating in Rwanda. To achieve these objectives, this study used a partial least squares structural equation model (PLE-SEM) estimation technique with data sourced from banks' financial statements and annual reports for the period of 2013 to 2018.

Results in this study show that higher credit risks as proxied by non-performing loans (NPL) ratio significantly reduces banks' return on assets (ROA) and moderately increases banks return on equity (ROE). In addition, higher operational risks significantly reduce banks'

return on assets but increases banks' return on equity. In other findings, banks' age significantly increases banks' financial performance (both ROA & ROE).

This study provides both academic and policy implications. It adds to the rare literature on the measures of credit and operational risks as required by Basel II & III financial requirements on Pillar II (Capital requirements). In addition, it uses a novel and rarely used estimation technique in measuring banks' financial performance (PLE-SEM). This study also contributes to policy by recommending central bank to implement proficient credit risk and operational risk management measures in place to protect the financial performance of the commercial banks. This will not only protect the assets of the banks and safeguard investors' interests but also harden to the benefit of individuals, business entities and the entire economy at large. Regulators should also set policies that will strengthen the banking industry particularly policies that bothers around risk management.

This study concludes that credit risk influences profitability measured by ROA and ROE negatively and these results are in line with several studies such as Gadzo *et al.*,(2019) and Fadun & Oye (2020) studies. Consequently, the findings are not in unanimity with the several empirical works which have concluded that bank performance is positively related to credit risk such as Nduku (2013), Abbas *et al.*, (2014), Chimkono *et al.*, (2016) and Al-shakrchy (2017) studies nevertheless in line with the lemon theory, information asymmetry could lead to more NPLs which negatively affect the financial profitability of the commercial banks.

In addition, the findings from this study also revealed that operational risk of banks measured by leverage ratio have significant positive effect on the profitability like ROE but not on ROA. These results are in line with Gadzo *et al.*,(2019). The results suggest that as banks should increase their operational risk exposure and the amount of profit levels drops. Moreover, it was found that the associated variables to the independent variables such as bank size and bank age did not have any effect on the bank profitability, while bank age variable had had a positive effect on the bank profitability.

5.4 Recommendations

Based on the findings of this study, it is vital that central bank implement proficient credit risk and operational risk management measures in place to protect the financial performance of the commercial banks. This will not only protect the assets of the banks and safeguard investors' interests but also harden to the benefit of individuals, business entities and the entire economy at large. Regulators should also set policies that will strengthen the banking industry particularly policies that bothers around risk management.

On the negative relationship between financial profitability and credit risk management, it is proposed that commercial banks be encouraged to cut down their lending rates cautiously so that more clients can access loans which in turn decrease credit risk and subsequently boost profitability further as the industry is already doing well in terms of profitability. The banks could also divert funds available for fee-generating activities into loan-generating activities. Nonetheless, borrowers should pay the full interest plus principal on time to ensure profitability as anticipated, is attained.

With regard to operational risk, where a positive relationship was found between operational risk and financial profitability, it is recommended that commercial banks maintain their leverage and improve their portfolio by focusing on investment income so as to boost their financial profitability.

5.5 Future Studies

To the future researcher, we propose the investigation of effect of credit and operational risk on financial performance by adding control variables such as ownership of the bank and Zscores for this study is based on a limited scope, therefore, a large sample size may be advisable for future researchers.

REFERENCES

Abiodun, Babalola Y. (2013). The effect of firm size on firms' profitability in Nigeria. Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development, 4(5).

Adekunle, O., Alalade, S. Y., Agbatogun, T., & Abimbola, C. (2015). Credit risk management and financial performance of selected commercial banks in Nigeria. Journal of Economic & Financial Studies, 3(01), 01-09.

Albertazzi, U., & Gambacorta, L. 'Bank Profitability and Taxation'. *Journal* Aman H., Miyazaki H. (2009) Valuation effects of new equity issues by banks: evidence from Japan, Applied Financial Economics, 19, 635–645.

Al-shakrchy, E. J. (2017). The impact of credit risk managing on bank profitability an empirical study during the pre-and post-subprime mortgage crisis: The case of Swedish commercial banks. *Journal of Business and Finance*, *3*(1), 31-42.

Babalola, Y. A. (2013). The effect of firm size on firms profitability in Nigeria. *Journal of economics and sustainable development*, 4(5), 90-94.Balthazar, L. (2006). From Basel 1 to Basel 3: The integration of state-of-the-art risk modelling in banking regulation. Springer.

Bessis, J. (2011). Risk management in banking. John Wiley & Sons.

Bijleveld, C. C., Leo, J. T., Leo, J., Mooijaart, A., Van Der Van Der, W. A., Van Der Leeden, R., & Van Der Burg, E. (1998). Longitudinal data analysis: Designs, models and methods. Sage.

Brei, M., & Gambacorta, L. (2014). The leverage ratio over the cycle

Chimkono, E. E., Muturi, W., & Njeru, A. (2016). Effect of non-performing loans and other factors on performance of commercial banks in Malawi. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management*.

Cihák M., Schaeck K. (2010) How well do aggregate prudential ratios identify banking system problems? Journal of Financial Stability, 6, 130–144.

Crane, D. (1999). Renewed focus on financial performance. Outsourcing-Journal. com/issues/jan.

Currie, C. V. (2004). The Potential Effect of the New Basel Operational Risk Capital Requirements. School of Finance and Economics Working Paper, (137).

Dionne, G. (2013). Risk management: History, definition, and critique. Risk Management and Insurance Review, 16(2), 147-166.

Fadun & Oye (2020): Impacts of Operational Risk Management on Financial Performance: A Case of Commercial Banks in Nigeria, International Journal of Finance & Banking Studies, 9(1):2147-4486, 2020 ISSN

Fan, Y., Chen, J., Shirkey, G., John, R., Wu, S. R., Park, H., & Shao, C. (2016). Applications of structural equation modeling (SEM) in ecological studies: an updated review. Ecological Processes, 5(1), 19.

Friedman M. (1963), Inflation: Causes and Consequences, Asia Publishing House, New York.

Gadzo, S. G., Kportorgbi, H. K., & Gatsi, J. G. (2019). Credit risk and operational risk on financial performance of universal banks in Ghana: A partial least squared structural equation model (PLS SEM) approach. Cogent Economics & Finance, 7(1), 1589406.

Gemar, P., Gemar, G., & Guzman-Parra, V. (2019). Modeling the Sustainability of Bank Profitability Using Partial Least Squares. Sustainability, 11(18), 4950.

Girling, P. X. (2013). Operational Risk Management: a complete guide to a successful operational risk framework. John Wiley & Sons.

Glantz, M., & Mun, J. (2008). The banker's handbook on credit risk: implementing Basel II. Academic Press.

Goodhart, C. (2011). The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision: a history of the early years 1974–1997. Cambridge University Press.

Hasan I., Wall L. (2004) Determinants of the Loan Loss Allowance: Some Cross-Country Comparisons, The Financial Review, 39, 129–152.

Hox, J. J., & Bechger, T. M. (1998). An introduction to structural equation modeling.

http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/natlinfo/indicators/methodology_sheets/econ_development/gd p_percapita.pdf

https://data.oecd.org/gdp/gross-domestic-product-gdp.htm

https://knoema.com/atlas/Rwanda/GDP-per-capita

https://tradingeconomics.com/rwanda/gdp-per-capita

https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/RWA/rwanda/inflation-rate-cpi

John, A. O., & Adebayo, O. (2013). Effect of firm size on profitability: Evidence from Nigerian manufacturing sector. *Prime Journal of Business Administration and Management* (*BAM*), 3(9), 1171-1175.

Laeven, L., Ratnovski, L., & Tong, H. (2014). Bank Size, Capital Requirements and Systemic Risk: Some International Evidence. IMF Working Paper, March 31.

Lee, S. Y. (2007). Structural equation modeling: A Bayesian approach (Vol. 711). John Wiley & Sons.

Marshall A. (1923), Money, Credit and Commerce, Macmillan, London

Meeker L., Gray L. (1987) A note on Non-Performing Loans as an indicator of asset quality, Journal of Banking and Finance, 11, 161–168.

Mendoza E., Terrones M. (2008) An anatomy of credit booms: evidence from macro aggregates and micro data, NBER Working Paper Series, 14049.

Mwangi, G. (2012). The effect of credit risk management on the financial performance of commercial banks in Kenya. Unpublished Thesis, University of Nairobi.

Nachtigall, C., Kroehne, U., Funke, F., & Steyer, R. (2003). Pros and cons of structural equation modeling. Methods Psychological Research Online, 8(2), 1-22.

Nitzl, C. (2016). The use of partial least squares structural equation modelling (PLS-SEM) in management accounting research: Directions for future theory development. Journal of Accounting Literature, 37, 19-35.

OECD (2009), National Accounts of OECD Countries 2009, Volume I, Main Aggregates, OECD Publishing, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/na_vol_1-2009-en-fr.

Of Banking and Finance, 34 (11), 2801-2810, 2010.

Owojori, A. A., Akintoye, I. R., & Adidu, F. A. (2011). The challenge of risk management in Nigerian banks in the post consolidation era. Journal of Accounting and Taxation, 3(2), 23-31.

Saghaei, A., & Ghasemi, R. (2009). Using structural equation modeling in causal relationship design for Balanced-Scorecards' strategic map. World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology, 49(1), 1032-1038.

Shumway, T. (2001). Forecasting bankruptcy more accurately: A simple hazard model. Journal of Business, 74, 101-124. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/209665

Smith, A. (1776), An Inquire into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations, Stahan and Cadell, London.

Suhr, D. (2006). The basics of structural equation modeling. Presented: Irvine, CA, SAS User Group of the Western Region of the United States (WUSS).

Wen, M. M., Lin, H. J., & Born, P. (2007). Application of Structural Equation Modeling on the Linkage of Risk Management, Capital Management, and Financial Management for Insurance Industry.

Yao, F., Wen, H., & Luan, J. (2013). CVaR measurement and operational risk management in commercial banks according to the peak value method of extreme value theory. Mathematical and Computer Modelling, 58(1-2), 15-27.

. sem (banksize -> npl,) (banksize -> levratio,) (banksize -> roa,) (banksiz > e -> roe,) (age -> npl,) (age -> levratio,) (age -> roa,) (age -> roe,) > (npl -> roa,) (npl -> roe,) (levratio -> roa,) (levratio -> roe,), cov(e > .npl*e.levratio e.roa*e.roe) nocapslatent

Endogenous variables

Observed: npl levratio roa roe

Exogenous variables

Observed: banksize age

Fitting target model:

Iteration 0: log likelihood = -96.029078
Iteration 1: log likelihood = -96.029078

Structural equation	n model	Number	of ob:	s =	30
Estimation method	= ml				
Log likelihood	= -96.029078				

	Coef.	OIM Std. Err.	Z	₽> z	[95% Conf.	Interval]
Structural						
npl						
banksize	2106108	2.33197	-0.09	0.928	-4.781188	4.359967
age	.0340747	.049763	0.68	0.494	0634589	.1316083
_cons	6.43212	18.172	0.35	0.723	-29.18435	42.04859
levratio						
banksize	-1.528143	1.270242	-1.20	0.229	-4.017771	.9614851
age	0261619	.0271063	-0.97	0.334	0792892	.0269654
_cons	20.13344	9.898426	2.03	0.042	.7328846	39.534
roa						
npl	0027546	.0005452	-5.05	0.000	0038232	001686
levratio	.0005525	.0010009	0.55	0.581	0014092	.0025143
banksize	.00805	.0065041	1.24	0.216	0046977	.0207977
age	.0005758	.0001403	4.10	0.000	.0003008	.0008509
_cons	0473799	.0528619	-0.90	0.370	1509874	.0562276
roe						
npl	0220749	.0049954	-4.42	0.000	0318656	0122842
levratio	.030006	.0091707	3.27	0.001	.0120317	.0479803
banksize	.0429877	.059592	0.72	0.471	0738105	.1597858
age	.0039206	.0012858	3.05	0.002	.0014005	.0064408
_cons	3684799	.4843355	-0.76	0.447	-1.31776	.5808003
var(e.npl)	8.929403	2.305562			5.383233	14.81159
var(e.levr~o)	2.649411	.6840749			1.597239	4.394693
var(e.roa)	.0000658	.000017			.0000397	.0001092
var(e.roe)	.005527	.0014271			.003332	.0091678
cov(e.npl,						
e.levratio)	2.024127	.9618514	2.10	0.035	.1389327	3.909321
cov(e.roa,						
e.roe)	.0005115	.0001444	3.54	0.000	.0002285	.0007945

0.00, Prob > chi2 = .



ORIGINALITY REPORT			
9% SIMILARITY INDEX	12% INTERNET SOURCES	11% PUBLICATIONS	5% STUDENT PAPERS
PRIMARY SOURCES			
1 www.tai	ndfonline.com		5%
2 WWW.SS Internet Sour	bfnet.com		2%
3 docplay Internet Sour	er.net		2%
Exclude quotes	Off	Exclude matches	Off
Exclude bibliography	Off		